ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 05 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

RICKY DALE GILSTRAP,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-190808

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Assistant Public Defender

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in finding plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where Petitioner would have accepted the prior more favorable plea offer had he not been misadvised by plea counsel about the maximum sentence of his charges, as the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel now extends to the plea-bargaining stage?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 17, 2009, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Ricky Gilstrap for two counts of forgery. App. 72–73; App. 76–77. Petitioner subsequently waived presentment to the Grand Jury on a charge for possession of cocaine base, first offense. App. 68–70.

On October 6, 2009, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable John C. Few for a plea hearing. App. 1–14. George Campbell represented Petitioner, and Assistant Solicitor Brian Johnson represented the State. The plea judge ultimately sentenced Petitioner: (1) to seven years imprisonment for each forgery conviction; and (2) to three years imprisonment and a two-thousand dollar fine for the possession of cocaine base conviction; suspended upon the service of one year imprisonment and a one-thousand dollar fine; followed by three years probation. App. 13, ll. 12-20. The plea judge ordered the sentences to run concurrently for a total of seven years imprisonment. App. 70; 74; 78. Petitioner did not appeal the convictions and sentence from his guilty plea.

On January 25, 2010, Petitioner filed his application requesting post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 15–21. The Respondent filed the Return on April 21, 2010. App. 27–31. Petitioner then filed an amended PCR application on June 4, 2010. App. 22–26. Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Robin B. Stillwell on February 22, 2011, for an evidentiary hearing regarding his PCR claims. App. 32–56. Daniel Farnsworth, Jr., represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Karen Ratigan represented the State. App. 32. The PCR court denied Petitioner PCR relief in finding Petitioner failed to prove plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel on March 16, 2011. App. 58–66.

On April 4, 2012, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court. The State filed the Return to the petition for writ of certiorari on May 29, 2012. This Court subsequently granted the petition for writ of certiorari and ordered briefing on June 5, 2013.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel because Petitioner would have accepted the prior more favorable five year plea offer had he not been misadvised by plea counsel that the maximum sentence on his charges was five years rather than ten years. The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel now extends to the plea-bargaining stage.

Background

During Petitioner's plea hearing, the plea judge inquired, "So it appears that he has two counts of forgery, both of which are third or subsequent property offenses and carry up to 10 years in prison?" App. 5, ll. 3-6. Plea counsel replied, "*Judge, that seems to be the case, but to be honest with you that's not something I discussed with my client.*" App. 5, ll. 7-9 (emphasis added). The plea judge then allowed plea counsel the opportunity to confer with Petitioner. App. 5, ll. 13-21. After a short recess, Petitioner pled guilty as charged without a sentencing recommendation from the State. App. 5, ln. 24 – 9, ln. 13.

In mitigation, plea counsel candidly noted:

"Your Honor, we're here today pleading off the [trial] docket essentially because my client never wanted to go [to] trial[,] he just wanted a better plea deal, if you may. *The plea that was on the table . . . was a five year sentence. And as [Petitioner] understood it at the time that was going to be the max . . .* I spoke with [the Solicitor] about this last week, and I gave him no impression that we were ever intending to try this case."

App. 11, ln. 15 – 12, ln. 4 (emphasis added).

Petitioner

In his PCR application, Petitioner wrote, "[C]ounsel informed me that [the] maximum sentence on each charge would carry no more than 5 years." App. 18. Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that prior to the plea hearing, "I was told [by plea counsel] that I would be facing five years on the charge. App. 39, ll. 8-15. Petitioner also testified that plea counsel had

previously informed him of a plea offer for five years imprisonment, but that he did not accept the plea offer because he thought five years was the maximum sentence (i.e., plead as charged). App. 39, ln. 23 – 40, ln. 9. Petitioner recalled plea counsel saying that “[h]e would ask for three years” and that the first time he was told the forgery charges carried a maximum of ten years was “[w]hen [he] came into the court to make [his] plea.” App. 40, ll. 23-24; App. 41, ll. 1-19.

Notably, Petitioner testified, “*A year before this, if someone had told me you’d be up there facing ten years, I would have gladly accepted the five years . . . [because] [t]hat would have been half of what the charges carry and I felt like that would have been a good deal.*” App. 43, ll. 1-10 (emphasis added). Petitioner also stated that he “was still under the impression that [he] was going to get the five [year sentence] at the very most” when he pled guilty. Petitioner noted that he was surprised when the State did not provide a favorable sentence recommendation at the plea hearing. App. 43, ln. 25 – 44, ln. 10.

PCR counsel asked, “[I]f you had known your two forgery charges carried up to ten years each, would you have accepted the five-year plea they offered months before?” App. 44, ll. 13-17; App. 46, ll. 13-19. Petitioner reiterated that he “absolutely, without a doubt” would have taken the plea deal had he known each forgery charge carried a maximum of ten years imprisonment. Petitioner testified that after the plea hearing, plea counsel “*apologized and said that it was his fault and [that] he was sorry [h]e didn’t tell me about the ten years and I should file a motion for post-conviction relief[.]*” App. 44, ln. 24 – 45, ln. 4 (emphasis added).

Plea Counsel

Plea counsel candidly admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he misadvised Petitioner regarding the maximum penalty of the forgery charges and that the five-year plea deal “was on the table for a good while.” App. 49, ln. 6 – 51, ln. 5. Plea counsel also corroborated Petitioner’s

testimony that Petitioner would have taken the plea deal had Petitioner known the maximum penalty for each forgery charge was ten years. App. 51, ln. 18 – 52, ln. 1. Plea counsel avowed that Petitioner *did not* accept the prior five-year plea offer because he had “*explained to [Petitioner], five years was the max.*” App. 52, ll. 6-11 (emphasis added).

Order of Dismissal

In denying Petitioner’s PCR application, the PCR court astonishingly found that “plea counsel adequately conferred with [Petitioner], conducted a proper investigation, and was thoroughly competent in his representation.” App. 63. The PCR court also found, “[B]ased on testimony from both [Petitioner] and plea counsel, [Petitioner] made a knowing decision to proceed with his guilty plea.” App. 63. Despite finding plea counsel’s corroborating testimony *credible*, the PCR court noted: “[E]ven if the plea judge had proceeded under the notion that the forgery charges would be classified as five (5) year offenses, [Petitioner] still faced a potential maximum sentence of thirteen (13) years of incarceration As such, [Petitioner’s] assertion that [he] would have taken the five (5) year plea offer if he had known he was facing a ten (10) year sentences is not compelling.” App. 63–64.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment guarantees “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. The United States Supreme Court established the constitutional right to *effective* assistance of counsel in *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), and subsequently created the standard for ineffective assistance of counsel in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The Supreme Court extended this standard to guilty pleas in *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985), and recently expanded this standard to apply during the plea-bargaining stage. *See Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 1399

(2012) (holding the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel extends to the consideration of plea offers that lapse or are rejected); *see also Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012) (addressing, as the companion case to *Frye*, cases where “inadequate assistance of counsel caused nonacceptance of a plea and further proceedings led to a less favorable outcome” after a full trial and jury verdict).

In *Missouri v. Frye*, the “case [arose] in the context of claimed ineffective assistance that led to the lapse of a prosecution offer of a plea bargain, a proposal that offered terms more lenient than the terms of the guilty plea entered later.” *Frye*, 132 S.Ct. at 1404. There were two questions before the United States Supreme Court in *Frye*: (1) “whether the constitutional right to counsel extends to the negotiation and consideration of plea offers that lapse or are rejected[;]” and (2) “If there is a right to effective assistance with respect to those offers, . . . what a defendant must demonstrate in order to show that prejudice resulted from counsel’s deficient performance.” *Frye*, 132 S.Ct. at 1404.

The *Frye* Court noted that the “Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to have counsel present at all critical stages of the criminal proceedings[, which] . . . include arraignments, post-indictment interrogations, post-indictment line ups, and the entry of a guilty plea.” *Id.*, 132 S.Ct. at 1405 (citations and internal quotation omitted). The *Frye* Court held that the right to effective assistance of counsel extends not only to those situations in which a criminal defendant accepts a plea bargain and waives his right to trial,¹ but also to situations where plea offers are rejected or allowed to lapse. *Id.* at 1409.

¹ *See Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985) (establishing the standard for ineffective assistance of counsel claims arising from a guilty plea); *see also Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010) (finding ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to advise a defendant regarding the deportation consequences of a conviction).

In support of its holding, the *Frye* Court explained:

The reality is that plea bargains have become so central to the administration of the criminal justice system that defense counsel have responsibilities in the plea bargain process, responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires in the criminal process at critical stages. Because ours ‘is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials,’ *Lafler, post*, at 11, it is insufficient simply to point to the guarantee of a fair trial as a backstop that inoculates any errors in the pretrial process.

Id. at 1407.² The Court emphasized, “*In today’s criminal justice system, . . . the negotiation of a plea bargain, rather than the unfolding of a trial, is almost always the critical point for a defendant*” and “*defense counsel have responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires.*” *Id.* at 1407 (emphasis added). Accordingly, “[a]nything less [than effective counsel during plea negotiations] . . . might deny a defendant ‘effective representation by counsel at the only stage when legal aid and advice would help him.’” *Id.* at 1408 (citing *Massiah v. United States*, 377 U.S. 201 (1964) (quotation citation omitted)).

Having found that the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance counsel applies to the plea bargaining stage, the *Frye* Court then applied the *Strickland* ineffective assistance of counsel standard to the plea bargaining stage: (1) whether plea counsel’s performance was deficient by failing to communicate the prior more favorable plea offer to Frye; and (2) whether Frye was prejudiced as a result of plea counsel’s deficient performance. The *Frye* Court held that plea counsel’s performance was deficient, as it fell below “an objective standard of reasonableness”

² The *Frye* Court noted, the “simple reality” is that “ours ‘is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials.’” *Frye*, 132 S.Ct. at 1407 (citing *Lafler*, 132 S.Ct. at 1388). Specifically, “[n]inety-seven percent of federal convictions and ninety-four percent of state convictions are the result of guilty pleas.” *Id.*

when he “did not make a meaningful attempt to inform the defendant of a written plea offer before the offer expired.” *Id.* at 1410.

As to proving prejudice where a plea offer has lapsed or been rejected because of counsel’s deficient performance, the *Frye* Court adapted the *Strickland* standard to require a PCR claimant to show: (1) that there is “a reasonable probability [the defendant] would have accepted the earlier [more favorable] plea offer had [he] been afforded effective assistance of counsel[;]” and (2) that there is “a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it, if they had the authority to exercise that discretion under state law.”³ *Id.* at 1409.

The *Frye* Court noted, “[I]n most instances it should not be difficult to make an objective assessment as to whether or not a particular fact or intervening circumstance would suffice, in the normal course to cause prosecutorial withdrawal or judicial nonapproval of a plea bargain.” *Id.* at 1410. Therefore, “[t]o establish prejudice in this instance, it is necessary to show a reasonable probability that the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.” *Frye*, at 1409 (emphasis added); see also *Glover v. United States*, 531 U.S. 198, 203 (2001) (“[A]ny amount of [additional] jail time has Sixth Amendment significance”), quoted with approval in *Lafler*, 132 S.Ct. at 1387.

Applying the modified *Strickland* standard, the *Frye* Court found that “there appears to be a reasonable probability Frye would have accepted the prosecutor’s original offer of a plea bargain if the offer had been communicated to him, because he pleaded guilty to a more serious charge, with no promise of a sentencing recommendation from the prosecutor.” *Id.* at 1411. Notably, the Court

³ The Court noted that its adaptation of the *Strickland* standard “does nothing to alter the standard laid out in *Hill*[, 474 U.S. 52].” *Frye*, 132 S.Ct. at 1409.

noted that Frye had received a “new offense” after having received the former plea offer, and that the lower court failed to address whether the plea offer would have been adhered to by the prosecution and accepted by the court. *Id.* at 1411. Consequently, the Court remanded the case to allow the state court to address that question. *Id.* at 1411.

In this case, Petitioner’s plea hearing and the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing unequivocally supports that Petitioner would have accepted the prior more favorable plea offer had he not been misadvised by plea counsel about the maximum sentence of his charges. App. 43, ll. 1-10; App. 51, ln. – 52, ln. 1; *See Frye*, 132 S.Ct. 1399 (holding the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel extends to the consideration of plea offers that lapse or are rejected); *see also Davie v. State*, 381 S.C. 601, 609, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009) (finding “counsel’s failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance.”). There is also absolutely no evidence that even suggests the solicitor would have withdrawn the plea offer or that the plea judge would not have accepted Petitioner’s plea. Therefore, the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel. App. 58–66; *See Frye*, 132 S.Ct. 1399.

Deficient Performance

Plea counsel’s performance fell below “an objective standard of reasonableness” when he misadvised Petitioner about the maximum sentence of his charges and Petitioner detrimentally relied on that erroneous advice. *See Frye*, at 1410; *see also Alexander v. State*, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991) (finding ineffective assistance of counsel when plea counsel erroneously advised the defendant regarding his potential sentence prior to his guilty plea).⁴

⁴ *Ray v. State*, 303 S.C. 374, 376, 401 S.E.2d 151, 153 (1991) (finding involuntary plea based on plea counsel’s erroneous sentencing advice); *Anderson v. State*, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000) (“[A] guilty plea must be aware of . . . the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty”) (emphasis removed and citations omitted).

Specifically, plea counsel admitted to the plea court that he had not accurately informed Petitioner regarding the maximum sentences of his charges: “*Judge, . . . to be honest with you that’s not something I discussed with my client.*” App. 5, ll. 7-9 (emphasis added). Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that prior to the plea hearing, “I was told [by plea counsel] that I would be facing five years on the [forgery] charge[s]. App. 39, ll. 8-15. This is supported by plea counsel’s statement at the plea hearing: *The plea that was on the table . . . was a five year sentence. And as [Petitioner] understood it at the time that was going to be the max.*” App. 11, ll. 17-20 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, plea counsel candidly admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he misadvised Petitioner regarding the maximum penalty of each forgery charge. App. 49, ln. 6 – 51, ln. 5. Plea counsel further corroborated Petitioner’s testimony by also admitting that the reason Petitioner did not accept the five year plea deal was because he had “*explained to [Petitioner], five years was the max.*” App. 52, ll. 6-11 (emphasis added). Accordingly, the PCR court erred in finding “plea counsel adequately conferred with [Petitioner], conducted a proper investigation, and was thoroughly competent in his representation.” App. 63.

Prejudice

As to prejudice, both prongs of the modified *Strickland* standard are satisfied for two reasons. First, there is “a reasonable probability [Petitioner] would have accepted the earlier [more favorable] plea offer had [he] been afforded effective assistance of counsel.” *See Frye*, at 1409. This is evinced best by Petitioner’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing: “*A year before this, if someone had told me you’d be up there facing ten years, I would have gladly accepted the five years . . . [because] [t]hat would have been half of what the charges carry and I felt like that would have been a good deal.*” App. 43, ll. 1-10 (emphasis added). *See Id.* (“To establish prejudice in this

instance, it is necessary to show a reasonable probability that the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.”).

Plea counsel’s testimony supported Petitioner’s stance that he would have taken the plea deal had he known the maximum penalty was ten years for each forgery charge. App. 51, ln. 18 – 52, ln. 1. Similar to *Frye*, Petitioner faced a harsher sentence “with no promise of a sentencing recommendation from the prosecutor” because of plea counsel’s deficient performance. App. 5, ln. 24 – 9, ln. 13; App. 13, ll. 12-20; App. 70; 74; 78; *Frye*, at 1411. Therefore, the PCR court erroneously found, “[Petitioner’s] assertion that [he] would have taken the five (5) year plea offer if he had known he was facing a ten (10) year sentences is not compelling.” App. 63–64; *Id.* at 11 (comparing *Glover*, 531 U.S. at 203 (“[A]ny amount of [additional] jail time has Sixth Amendment significance”)).

Second, there is “a reasonable probability the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it, if they had the authority to exercise that discretion under state law.” *Id.* at 1410. Unlike in *Frye*, there is no evidence that would give “reason to doubt that the prosecution would not have adhered to the agreement or that the trial court would have accepted it.” *Id.* 1410-11. To the contrary, plea counsel stated at the plea hearing that “[Petitioner] never wanted to go [to] trial” and that he never “gave [the solicitor the] impression that we were ever intending to try this case.” App. 11, ln. 15 – 12, ln. 4. Accordingly, the PCR court erred in finding that plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel. App. 58–66. *See Frye*, 132 S.Ct. 1399; *Cf. Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970) (finding “[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury . . . Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results”).

The remedy for a constitutional violation “must closely fit the constitutional violation.” *United States v. Virginia*, 518 U.S. 515, 547 (1996). The remedy must be designed to restore the victim to the position he or she would have occupied absent the constitutional violation. *Milliken v. Bradley*, 418 U.S. 717, 746 (1974). “Cases involving Sixth Amendment deprivations are subject to the general rule that remedies should be tailored to the injury suffered from the constitutional violation.” *United States v. Morrison*, 449 U.S. 361, 364 (1981). When ineffective assistance of counsel happens at a stage other than trial, courts order a remedy tailored to cure the violation. For example, if the violation occurs during sentencing, then a new sentencing hearing is ordered. *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 393 (2005). If the violation occurs on appeal, then the remedy is to order a new appeal. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. at 390-39.

Here, the appropriate remedy for Petitioner is to place him in the position he would have been prior to plea counsel’s ineffective assistance of counsel.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse the PCR court's dismissal and grant Petitioner post-conviction relief.