STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
The Honorable John C. Few, Guilty Plea Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-190808

Ricky Dale Gilstrap,..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The issue raised by Petitioner is not preserved for appellate review.

Petitioner argues the PCR judge erred in finding he failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel was ineffective. Petitioner argues plea counsel was deficient because he misadvised Petitioner about the maximum sentence he could receive. This issue, however, is not preserved for appellate review.

While Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing about a prior plea offer in this case (and why he rejected it), he failed to specifically raise the issue that plea counsel was ineffective for misadvising him about his maximum possible sentence.¹ As such, this issue was not addressed in the order of dismissal. Since this issue was neither raised to the PCR judge nor ruled upon in the final order, it is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). If Petitioner had intended to raise this argument as an articulated post-conviction relief issue, he should have filed a post-trial motion to alter or amend the final order, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to have the PCR judge make findings of fact and conclusions of law on this issue. Petitioner, however, did not file any post-trial motions. As such, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (holding that where a trial court does not explicitly

¹ The order of dismissal reflects Petitioner’s specific issues at the PCR hearing were that counsel was ineffective for failing to (1) object to the plea judge’s decision to treat the forgery charges as third property offenses and (2) advise Petitioner of the right to appeal. (App.pp.63-64).

rule on an argument raised, and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue).

II. Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proving his plea attorney's representation was deficient.

Petitioner alleges plea counsel was ineffective because he gave incorrect advice about the maximum possible sentence he faced. Even assuming arguendo that Petitioner's issue is preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has not met his burden of proving he is entitled to relief.

A.

Petitioner appeared in court to plead guilty to these charges on October 6, 2009. The plea judge noted the maximum sentence for one forgery charge was three years and the maximum sentence on the second charge was five years. (App.pp.3-4). The assistant solicitor stated, however, that the two forgery charges were being treated as third or subsequent property offenses. (App.p.4). The plea judge advised these offenses carried a maximum penalty of ten years imprisonment. (App.p.5). A break was taken and plea counsel was given the opportunity to review this with Petitioner. (App.p.5). Petitioner told the plea judge that he understood the maximum sentences on all charges. (App.pp.5-6). Petitioner agreed to waive the various constitutional rights associated with a jury trial. (App.pp.6-7). Petitioner stated he was satisfied with plea counsel's representation and had not been coerced into entering a guilty plea. (App.pp.7-8). Petitioner stated he was guilty and agreed with the assistant solicitor's recitation of the facts. (App.pp.7-9). Petitioner did not dispute the assistant solicitor's assertion that there was no

recommendation in this case. (App.pp.7-8). During mitigation, plea counsel stated there was prior plea offer from the State for a five year sentence but that Petitioner “just wanted a better plea deal.” (App.p.11). Plea counsel asked the judge to impose a three year sentence. (App.p.12).

B.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he believed five years was the maximum sentence for the forgery charges and that was why he did not accept a five year plea recommendation. (App.pp.39-40). Petitioner stated plea counsel advised that he would ask for a three year sentence. (App.p.40). Petitioner stated “I was informed that it was a subsequent third and above property crime. I thought there was a chance that we could get it to three. But at the very most, you know, I was looking at five.” (App.p.41). Petitioner stated he did not realize the forgery charges each carried a ten year penalty (instead of three and five years) until the day of the plea. (App.pp.41-42). Petitioner stated plea counsel told him during the plea hearing that he would ask for a three year sentence but that the five year sentence was still available. (App.p.42; pp.47-48). Petitioner admitted he did not object when the State noted there was no sentence recommendation. (App.p.47). Petitioner also admitted he told the plea judge that he had not been promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. (App.pp.47-48). Petitioner stated he would have accepted the five year plea offer if he had known the forgery charges carried a maximum sentence of ten years. (App.pp.43-44).

Plea counsel testified he told Petitioner the maximum sentence on each of the forgery charges was five years and that they could be run consecutive. (App.pp.50-52).

Plea counsel testified the assistant solicitor had made a five year offer for the forgery charges and that this offer remained after Petitioner accrued the possession of cocaine base charge. (App.pp.50-51). Plea counsel testified Petitioner chose not to accept the five year offer because this was the maximum sentence and he had cooperated. (App.p.52). Plea counsel testified the assistant solicitor had never chosen to treat the forgery charges as third property offenses but the plea judge opted to do so. (App.p.51). Plea counsel testified he explained the concept of the third or greater property offense during the plea hearing (including the maximum penalty) and Petitioner chose to go forward. (App.pp.53-54).

As this issue was not specifically raised to the PCR judge, it is not addressed in the order of dismissal. The only mention of the prior plea offer in the order's findings of fact and conclusions of law was that the PCR judge found "[Petitioner]'s assertion that he would have taken the five (5) year plea offer if he had known he was facing a ten (10) year sentence is not compelling." (App.p.64).

C.

Petitioner alleges plea counsel was ineffective because he gave incorrect advice about the potential maximum sentence. This allegation is without merit.

For an applicant to be granted relief as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The State made a plea offer of five years for two forgery charges and a possession of cocaine base charge. Plea counsel properly conveyed the plea offer to Petitioner. Cf. Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009) (holding counsel's failure to convey the State's plea offer to defendant constituted deficient performance). Petitioner, however, chose not to accept the plea offer. See Rule 1.2(a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (noting the decision whether to accept a plea offer rests solely with the client). Plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he had advised Petitioner of the maximum penalties of these charges **and that the plea judge could order them to be consecutive**. The PCR judge specifically found plea counsel's testimony on this point was credible. (App.p.63). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.").

As such, it is clear that while plea counsel and Petitioner did not know the forgery charges would be treated as third or greater property offenses, **Petitioner was certainly aware that he was facing a potential sentence in excess of five years**. Both Petitioner and plea counsel stated Petitioner did not accept the five-year plea offer because he believed it was excessive. Plea counsel made this statement at both the plea hearing and

the PCR hearing. As Petitioner knew that if the charges were run consecutively he was facing a sentence much greater than the five year recommendation from the State, it is simply not believable that Petitioner would have taken the plea offer if he had known the plea judge would treat the forgery charges as third or greater property offenses. This is corroborated by the fact that Petitioner never informed the plea judge – when advised of the potential ten year penalty for the third or greater property offenses by both the court and his attorney – that he would have accepted the prior five-year offer if he had known this. It should also be noted that – based on plea counsel’s testimony – the State made the five-year offer without considering the forgery charges to be third or greater property offenses. It is doubtful that the State would have made a five-year plea offer once the charges were treated as enhanced property offenses.

D.

Petitioner argues the following United States Supreme Court companion cases are applicable to his appeal: Lafler v. Cooper, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 1376 (2012) and Missouri v. Frye, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 1399 (2012). As these opinions were issued on March 21, 2012, however, they cannot be applied retroactively to this appeal. The Supreme Court did not indicate that either of these opinions were new constitutional rules that were intended to be retroactive.

In order to conclude whether the holding announced in these cases constitutes an “old rule” or a “new rule” for the purposes of determining whether it can be applied retroactively, it must be examined under the framework set forth in Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109 S. Ct. 1060 (1989). In Teague, the United States Supreme Court found “a

case announces a new rule when it breaks new ground or imposes a new obligation on the States or the Federal Government.” Id. at 301, 109 S. Ct. at 1070. The Teague Court also noted the concern that “[a]pplication of constitutional rules not in existence at the time a conviction became final seriously undermines the principle of finality which is essential to the operation of our criminal justice system.” Id. at 309, 109 S. Ct. at 1074. The Teague Court held that – unless they fell into one of two (2) exceptions to the general rule, “new constitutional rules of criminal procedure will not be applicable to those cases which have become final before the new rules are announced.” Id. at 310, 109 S. Ct. at 1075.

The first exception that would allow a new rule to be applied retroactively is “if it places certain kinds of primary, private individual conduct beyond the power of the criminal law-making authority to proscribe.” Id. at 311, 109 S. Ct. at 1075 (internal quotation and citation omitted). This exception has been subsequently defined as being a substantive (not procedural) new rule. See, e.g., Beard v. Banks, 542 U.S. 406, 411 n.2, 124 S. Ct. 2504, 2510 n.2 (2004) (“Rules that fall within what we have referred to as Teague’s first exception are more accurately characterized as substantive rules not subject to Teague’s bar.”) (internal quotation and citation omitted); see also Wharton v. Bockting, 549 U.S. 406, 416, 127 S. Ct. 1173, 1180 (2007).

The second exception that would allow a new rule to be applied retroactively is “if it requires the observance of those procedures that are implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.” Teague, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S. Ct. at 1076 (internal quotation and citation omitted). The Teague Court explained this second exception was “to be reserved for

watershed rules of criminal procedure” and limited to “those new procedures without which the likelihood of an accurate conviction is seriously diminished.” Id. at 311, 313, 109 S. Ct. at 1076-77. To determine whether a new rule is a watershed rule, it must (1) “be necessary to prevent an impermissibly large risk of an inaccurate conviction” and (2) “alter our understanding of the bedrock procedural elements essential to the fairness of a proceeding.” See Wharton, 549 U.S. at 418, 127 S. Ct. at 1182 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Respondent submits the holdings in the companion cases of Lafler v. Cooper and Missouri v. Frye do not set forth a new rule that should be applied retroactively. These cases did not enact a substantive new rule in criminal procedure. Further, nothing in these opinions indicates the United States Supreme Court intended their decisions to be a watershed rule retroactively applicable to all prior criminal convictions. In fact, nine of the eleven United States Courts of Appeal have addressed this issue and none have found these cases to be a new rule of constitutional law and retroactive. See Pagan-San Miguel v. United States, No. 13-1343 (1st Cir. filed Nov. 20, 2013); In re Liddell, 722 F.3d 737 (6th Cir. 2013); In re Graham, 714 F.3d 1181 (10th Cir. 2013); Gallagher v. United States, 711 F.3d 315 (2d Cir. 2013); Williams v. United States, 705 F.3d 298 (8th Cir. 2013); Buenrostro v. United States, 697 F.3d 1137 (9th Cir. 2012); In re King, 697 F.3d 1189 (5th Cir. 2012); Hare v. United States, 688 F.3d 878 (7th Cir. 2012); In re Perez, 682 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 2012). While the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has not yet addressed whether Lafler v. Cooper and Missouri v. Frye are retroactive, it is highly doubtful that court would reach the conclusion that these cases set forth a new watershed

rule of criminal procedure.

Petitioner cannot sustain his claim that the holdings in these March 2012 cases should be applied to a PCR application that was denied in March 2011.

E.

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving he was entitled to relief, the PCR judge did not err in denying Petitioner's PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling and deny the requested relief.